IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 70,497
(TFB CASE NO. 8-20, 938(18A))

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

JAMES T. GOLDEN,

Respondent.

FILED
SID J. WHITE

MAY 17 1988

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Deputy Clerk

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

JAMES T. GOLDEN, ESQUIRE
1600 West Colonial Drive
Suite 117
Orlando, Florida 32805
(407) 422-6117

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

On April 1, 1986, by letter to Bar Counsel in the Orlando office, The Florida Bar was asked by the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit's representative to the Board of Governors to review an opinion by the Fifth District Court of Appeal to determine if some action should be taken against the Respondent. The opinion which the Board of Governor's representative asked to be reviewed is recorded at Whack v. Seminole Memorial Hospital, Incorporated, 456 So. 2d 561 (Fla. App. 5th DCA 1984).

(In Whack, supra, the Fifth District Court of Appeal decided that the trial judge's ruling was correct when he dismissed with prejudice one of the defendants in that case because the record showed that the plaintiff's counsel had acted "...with willful disregard of the court's authority and gross indifference to an order of the court..." The appellate court concluded that "...that there was no abuse of discretion in imposing the sanction of dismissal...").

The Respondent in this case was not furnished a copy of the above referenced letter until October 15, 1986, approximately five (5) months after The Florida Bar instituted disciplinary proceedings herein. Moreover, the record also reflects that the aforementioned letter was received by The Florida Bar prior to the referee's report in The Florida Bar v. Golden, 502 So. 2d 891 (Fla. 1987), being served upon Respondent and long before this Court imposed discipline in that case by its order of February 5, 1987.

In Golden, supra, this Court determined that the allegations therein warranted a ten (10) day suspension followed by a one (1) year period of bar-supervised probation. The probationary period in that case was completed without further disciplinary activity except for the instant case.

In the case before this Court presently, the Respondent received a notice of receipt of complaint which named Gerald W. Jones, Chairman of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "A", as the complaining party, and not the person who had written The Florida Bar . This notice was received June 16, 1986.

The notice received by the Respondent on June 16th further represented that the complaint was received on May 15, 1986.

It was not until October 28, 1986, that the grievance committee held a hearing and on October 30, 1986, probable cause was found in the case now before this Court.

It was not until May 5, 1987, that Respondent was served with a complaint in the matter presently before the Court.

Although a referee was appointed to hear this matter on May 13, 1987, it was not until December 18, 1987, that the hearing commenced, and that hearing was not concluded until February 5, 1988. The referee's report was served on the Respondent February 29, 1988.

The total elapsed time from receipt by The Florida Bar of the letter dated April 1, 1986, until the service of the referee's report on February 29, 1988, was twenty three (23) months.

During the pendency of the proceedings now before this court, the Respondent has completed the ten (10) day suspension and the one (1) year probation in the case which was still pending at the time the present case was begun.

On April 2, 1988, the Respondent filed a Petition For Review of the referee's report served on February 29, 1988.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It would be grossly unfair to the Respondent, to his clients, and would serve none of the purposes given for imposing discipline to suspend the Respondent for 90 days and in essence extend his probation for another year on the facts relied upon by the Referee.

The case which is the basis for these disciplinary procedures is still active and ongoing against the remaining defendant. To suspend the Respondent at this time would only add to the delay that The Florida Bar is accusing the Respondent of being negligent in avoiding in the first place.

Indeed to suspend the Respondent at all in light of the undue delay by The Florida Bar in prosecuting this matter would be an egregious departure from the standards of discipline usually imposed in cases of this type.

WHEREFORE, the Respondent asks this Court to enter a public reprimand in this cause and a one year probationary period to run concurrent nunc pro tunc with the probationary period already completed in The Florida Bar v. Golden, 502 So.2d 891 (Fla. 1987).

ARGUMENT I

THE EVIDENCE RELIED UPON BY THE
REFEREE DOES NOT ESTABLISH THAT
RESPONDENT WAS NEGLIGENT AS A
MATTER OF LAW OR FACT

The Respondent argues that none of the facts relied upon by the Referee established neglect. These proceedings were precipitated by a concern over two Appellate opinions. Whack v. Seminole Memorial Hospital Incorporated, 456 So.2d 561 (Fla. App. 5th DCA 1984) concluded that a dismissal of one of the multiple defendants must be affirmed. While the Appellate Court did posit that Respondent had acted "...with a willful disregard of the Court's authority and gross indifference to an order of the Court" it made no determination as to whether these actions were negligent. Indeed, the sanction of dismissal was imposed as punishment for failure to abide by the rules of procedure with no factual determination as to why such failure occurred. As stated in Whack supra:

"Appellant made no showing that he either attempted to comply with the discovery order or communicated any explanation or excuse to the court by the time of the hearing".

Whack v. Seminole Memorial Hospital Incorporated, 487 So.2d 1091 (Fla. App. 5 Dist. 1986) concluded that a summary judgment against one of the remaining defendants must be affirmed insofar as the Respondent had not demonstrated any judicial abuse in granting same because "...there was no clerical error, brief delay, or inexcusable inadvertance in Plaintiff's failure to respond to Request to Admit for in excess of two (2) years". The court in this case affirmed the judgment but specifically noted that:

"The hearing at which the Plaintiff's attorney had the opportunity and presumably did offer his reasons for not filing the answers was not recorded so we have no knowledge in that regard. The trial judge's ruling is presumptively correct, so we have no choice but to affirm his findings and the order".

It is apparent from the record that the Referee could only rely upon the language found in Whack v. Seminole Memorial Hospital Incorporated 456 So.2d 561 (Fla. App. 5th DCA 1984) and Whack v. Seminole Memorial Hospital Incorporated, 487 So.2d 1091 (Fla. App. 5 Dist. 1986) as well as the testimony of the Respondent as the factual basis for his recommendations.

The Florida Bar Integration Rule, Article XI, 11.06(9)(a) establishes that a Referee's findings shall have the same presumption of correctness as the judgment of the trier of facts in a civil proceeding. This Court has established that such a presumption will not be overturned absent a clear showing that they are clearly erroneous or lacking evidentiary support, The Florida Bar v. Fields, 482 So.2d 1354, 1359 (Fla. 1986). In this case the record clearly demonstrates the absence of clear and convincing evidence of neglect and moreover specifically contains no evidentiary support for the conclusion reached by the Referee that the facts in the record legally and ethically constitute neglect. Indeed, it appears that the Referee has made a determination on the facts before him that neither the trial court nor the appellate court was able to arrive at from a review of the same facts. Moreover, it does not appear from the record that either the trial judge nor any of the appellate judges voiced any concern over any breach of ethics with respect to the handling of this case.

ARGUMENT II

THE FACTS RELIED UPON BY THE REFEREE ESTABLISHED THAT A PUBLIC REPRIMAND AND PROBATION COULD BE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE BUT BECAUSE OF UNDUE DELAY BY THE FLORIDA BAR A PUBLIC REPRIMAND WOULD BE SUFFICIENT

In The Florida Bar v. Lord, 433 So.2d 986(Fla. 1983), the three stated purposes of any proposed discipline are:

" First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become in like violations."

In the Referee's report there is no finding of fraud, deceit, nor prejudice to the client in the resolution of their cases and the only record of prior discipline was (1) a public reprimand in 1981 and (2) a ten day suspension plus one year bar supervised probation which began and ended during the pendency of these proceedings.

The instant case is similar to The Florida Bar v. Hotaling, 454 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1984) where the Court held that a public reprimand with a two year bar supervised probationary period was appropriate discipline. In Hotaling the Referee recommended that the Respondent be suspended for eighteen (18) months and be placed on bar supervised probation for two (2) years after readmittance and reinstatement. The Court stated:

"...Our review of prior disciplinary cases reflects that the discipline recommended by the referee for this offense is inappropriate, particularly where the conduct was not dishonest or deceitful, there was no prior disciplinary proceeding against respondent and the clients suffered no prejudice in the final resolution of their cases. ... Under the facts of the instant case, the proper penalty is a public reprimand together with a two-year period of bar-supervised probation, during which time the respondent shall quarterly report to the Bar an inventory of her pending cases. ..."

The record reflects there are no aggravating factors that would justify the discipline recommended by the Referee nor are there any facts that would make the discipline recommended in Hotaling inappropriate in this case.

Additionally, the Respondent posits that in light of the undue delay in prosecuting this matter by The Florida Bar and the Referee it would be manifestly unjust to suspend Respondent again for allegations of negligence which were similar to those causing the previous ten day suspension and further to place Respondent on probation again for a period of time equal to the probation already completed.

This situation is somewhat analogous to The Florida Bar v. Pritikin, 259 So.2d 138 (Fla. 1972), where it was determined that tardy prosecution justified a nunc pro tunc determination that a two year suspension should run concurrently with a prior three-year suspension based on conduct arising out of the same general scheme of transaction.