FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDASID J. WHITE (Before a Referee)

JUN 6 1988

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. Deputy Scienk

[TFB No. 86-20,938(18A)]

v.

JAMES T. GOLDEN,

Respondent.

COMPLAINANT'S ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300
(904) 222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 222-5286

and

JOHN B. ROOT, JR.
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
605 E. Robinson Street
Suite 610
Orlando, FL 32801
(407) 425-5424

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Bar considers that for clarity and accuracy, additional information needs to be supplied to the respondent's Statement of the Case.

On March 24, 1986, Gerald W. Jones, Jr., then chairman of Eighteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "A", wrote to the Branch Staff Counsel of the Orlando Branch Office of The Florida Bar reporting that it had come to his attention that the respondent had been dilatory in representing his client in Whack v. Seminole County Hospital, Inc., (81-2535-CA-11-E) indicating that there was inexcusable neglect by the respondent in the case which should be investigated. (See Appendix Exhibit Mr. Jones' complaint was logged in on April 1, 1986, and records reflected him Bar as the complainant. on investigation was commenced in the Orlando office which resulted in the matter being forwarded to the grievance committee for appropriate action on May 13, 1986. (See Appendix Exhibit 2)

On March 31, 1986, a member of the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar wrote to The Florida Bar bringing to its attention the same case which had previously been reported by Mr. Jones. This correspondence was date stamped in the Orlando office on April 1, 1986. (See Appendix Exhibit 3)

The committee held a probable cause hearing in the matter on October 28, 1986.

Probable cause for further disciplinary action against the respondent was found by the committee and, on May 5, 1987, a formal complaint was filed.

The case was heard before Honorable Frederick T. Pfeiffer, referee, on December 18, 1987. The referee found that there was adequate evidence to prove each allegation of Count I of the complaint by clear and convincing evidence. (See Report of Referee)

The referee found that there was not sufficient evidence to prove the allegations of Count II. (See Report of Referee)

On February 5, 1988, the referee conducted another hearing to determine an appropriate discipline. The discipline which was recommended to this honorable court by the referee was a suspension from the practice of law for a period of three months with an automatic reinstatement, probation for a period of one year with a quarterly report to The Florida Bar on the status of each case and payment of costs. (See Report of Referee)

On April 2, 1988, the respondent filed his petition for review. The brief was due no later than May 2, 1988, which was 30 days after the petition was filed. The brief was not mailed until May 16, 1988, fourteen days after it was due, and not received by The Florida Bar until May 18, 1988. No request for extension of time to file the initial brief was made, and no explanation of the tardiness was made at the time the brief was filed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Florida Bar considers that the Statement of Facts contained in respondent's initial brief is not sufficient and needs supplementation for adequate understanding. It should be noted that nearly all of the facts in this case were admitted by respondent in his Response to the Bar's Requests for Admission. (B-Ex 1,2) The balance of facts established by court pleadings were admitted into evidence by the referee during trial. In addition, the referee took judicial notice of two appellate decisions involved in this case.

Respondent was retained in late 1981 to represent Lee Whack, as personal representative of deceased, Sylvia Whack, in a medical malpractice suit (TI p.93). Ms. Whack died of cardiac arrest on November 12, 1979, after giving birth by Caesarean section. Whack v. Seminole Memorial Hospital, Inc., 456 So.2d 561 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). (Judicial notice taken at referee hearing).

The defendants in the suit were Seminole Memorial Hospital, Inc., Dr. Vincent Roberts, Dr. Stephen R. Phillips, both individually and as a partnership, and Thomas Richards C.R.N.A., individually and as an employee of Seminole Memorial Hospital, Inc. (B-Ex 1 and 2)

On November 18, 1981, a complaint was filed in the circuit court in the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit alleging negligence on the part of all defendants and alleging that the doctors committed medical malpractice. (B-Ex 1,2 and 3) Roberts and Phillips filed motions to dismiss on November 25, 1981. (B-Ex 1 On March 17, 1982, the court entered an order granting the motions and directing the respondent to file an amended complaint within twenty days. (B-Ex 4) The respondent failed to file either the amended complaint or a motion for extension of time within this time period. He did not file a motion for extension of time until April 13, 1982. (B-Ex 5) The respondent's motion was granted and the amended complaint was finally filed on April 30, 1982. (B-Ex 7)

The defendants again moved the court to dismiss this complaint, or in the alternative, to strike or for a more definite statement in a timely manner. (B-Ex 9,10,11,12,13) On May 12, 1982, Roberts and Phillips served a motion to compel discovery and alleged the respondent failed to answer interrogatories and comply with their request to produce, both of which were served on December 11, 1981. (B-Ex 14)

On May 25, 1982, a hearing was held before Judge Davis on the pending motions. He orally ordered the respondent to file a second amended complaint within twenty days and to comply with discovery by July 1, 1982, and gave notice of his intention to recuse himself. Whack I, supra, at 563. On June 3, 1982, he entered an order of recusal (B-Ex 15). On June 10, 1982, he issued a written order nunc pro tunc May 25, 1982, incorporating the matters contained in his oral order of May 25, 1982, granting the motion to dismiss filed by Roberts, Richards and Phillips. (B-Ex 16) The respondent was allowed twenty days to file a second amended complaint. Roberts' and Phillips' motion to compel discovery was granted and the respondent was ordered to comply by July 1, 1982.

Respondent did not file the second amended complaint until June 18, 1982. (B-Ex 18) Following an order of reassignment, Judge Salfi permitted the late filing and gave the respondent twenty days in which to file the responsive pleadings. (B-Ex 27)

On October 21, 1982, Roberts and Phillips served a motion for imposition of sanctions. (B-Ex 21) They alleged the respondent had failed to comply with Judge Davis' June 10, 1982, nunc pro tunc order. On November 17, 1982, the court granted the motion and imposed the sanction of involuntary dismissal of the second amended complaint. (B-Ex 1,2) Respondent filed a motion for reconsideration which was denied on May 11, 1983. In addition to the Motion for Sanctions, all the defendants filed respective motions for summary judgment and Richards' and

Seminole Hospital's were granted on May 16 and 24, 1983, respectively. (B-Ex 27,28, and 29) The respondent appealed the court's orders on June 13, 1983. On September 27, 1984, the Fifth District Court of Appeals upheld Judge Salfi's dismissal of the claims against Roberts and Phillips but reversed the decision of summary judgment as to Richards and Seminole Hospital. Whack I, supra.

On October 16, 1984, Richards filed his second motion for summary judgment based upon the respondent's failure to respond to either set of his requests for admission filed on January 22, 1982, and July 20, 1982. (B-Ex 31) On January 23, 1985, Seminole Memorial Hospital filed its second motion for summary judgment. (B-Ex 33) On November 9, 1984, respondent filed a motion to permit late filing of the response to the requests for admission. (B-Ex 32) However, on February 20, 1985, Judge Salfi granted Richards' motion for summary judgment. (B-Ex 34) He denied Seminole Memorial Hospital's motion for summary judgment on May 30, 1985. (B-Ex 35)

On March 22, 1985, the respondent filed an appeal of Judge Salfi's ruling. (B-Ex 36) The initial brief was due on June 3, 1985. He filed a motion for extension of time on or about June 24, 1985. (B-Ex 1,2) On July 16, 1985, the court granted an extension of time through July 17, 1985. (B-Ex 1,2) On July 19,

1985, the respondent requested a second extension of time until July 19, 1985, and submitted his initial brief. (B-Ex 1,2) On September 17, 1985, the court ordered, sua sponte, that the respondent show cause why the appeal should not be dismissed for failure to file a record on appeal. (B-Ex 1,2)

On March 20, 1986, the court upheld Judge Salfi's order of dismissal of the claims against Richards. Whack v. Seminole Memorial Hospital, Inc., 487 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

The case against Seminole Memorial Hospital remains open to date, but has not progressed to trial as the respondent has been unable to locate an expert witness willing to testify. (TI pp. 93-94)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Contrary to the assertions made in the initial brief of the respondent, the findings and recommendations of the referee have more than ample evidence in the record to support them. Thus, they cannot be overturned.

The disciplinary sanction recommended by the referee is the most appropriate measure for the circumstances of this case. The time taken to prosecute this case by The Florida Bar is not inordinate under the circumstances and does not require mitigatory measures in regard to the discipline.

Argument

Point I

THE EVIDENCE RELIED UPON BY THE REFEREE ESTABLISHES BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT RESPONDENT NEGLECTED HIS CLIENT'S CASE.

The respondent asserts that none of the facts relied upon by the referee establish neglect. It is the position of The Florida Bar that repeated neglect of matters entrusted to him by his client was clearly established by the evidence in the record of the referee hearing.

On March 17, 1982, the court entered an order granting motions of defendants Roberts and Phillips for dismissal. The court also ordered that should respondent desire to file an amended complaint, he must do so within twenty days. (B-Ex 4) Twenty-seven days later, on April 13, 1982, the respondent filed a motion for extension of time to file the amended complaint. (B-Ex 5) This was more than twenty days plus mailing time allowed under the Rules of Civil Procedure.

A hearing on the motion was held on April 28, 1982. The respondent filed his first amended complaint April 30, 1982. (B-Ex 7) By order dated April 30, 1982, the court granted him until April 30, 1982, to file the complaint. (B-Ex 8) Thus the record clearly indicates the respondent failed to comply with the court's order that he file his first amended complaint within

twenty days of March 17, 1982. Furthermore, respondent even failed to file a timely request for extension of time.

On May 4, 1982, Phillips and Roberts, both individually and as a partnership, and Richards moved the court to dismiss the first amended complaint. (B-Ex 9 & 10) A hearing was held on May 25, 1982, during which Judge Davis orally granted the motions and again allowed the respondent twenty days in which to file a second amended complaint if he so desired. (B-Ex 16) orally admonished the respondent to file the complaint in a timely manner as he had failed to do so with the first amended complaint. (B-Ex 17) Respondent assured the court he would do Although the proceeding was not transcribed, so. (B-Ex 17) counsel for the defendants Roberts and Phillips made note of the Judge's remarks in their motion for entry of final judgment dated June 15, 1982. (B-Ex 17) Judge Davis issued his written order on June 10, 1982, nunc pro tunc May 25, 1982, which contained his order granting the respondent twenty days to file the second He did not repeat the oral amended complaint. (B-Ex 16)admonition for timeliness addressed to the respondent.

Respondent did not file the second amended complaint until June 18, 1982. (B-Ex 18) Following an order of reassignment, Judge Salfi permitted the late filing. (B-Ex 27)

On November 17, 1982, the court granted defendants Roberts' and Phillips' motions for imposition of sanctions for failure to comply with Judge Davis' order of June 10, 1982, relating to filing answers to interrogatories which had been propounded under certificates dated December 11, 1981. The court dismissed the complaint against Roberts and Phillips. Although respondent then filed a motion for reconsideration, the court denied it.

Upon appeal of that decision, a panel of the District Court of Appeals for the Fifth District upheld the lower court's dismissal as to defendants Roberts and Phillips. The appellate court, in making its decision, severely criticized respondent, saying, "[t]he record clearly shows that appellant's counsel acted with willful disregard of the court's authority and gross indifference to an order of the court. Appellant made no showing that he either attempted to comply with the discovery order or communicated any explanation or excuse to the court by the time of the hearing." Whack v. Seminole Memorial Hospital, Inc., 456 So.2d 561, 564 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

Such conduct is proven by clear and convincing evidence, primarily by admission of the respondent and by court documents. The dismissal of an action against two out of four defendants in a malpractice case, not on the merits of the case but because of

a failure to follow court orders and rules of procedure, is unmistakable evidence of neglect of a client's case.

Moreover, the case against a third defendant, Mr. Richards, was later dismissed by the court on a motion for summary judgment. The motion was bottomed on the fact that it was not until November 9, 1984, some 841 days after service of defendant's second request for admissions and 1021 days after service of defendant's first set of requests for admissions that the respondent finally got around to filing a motion to permit late filing of admissions never answered.

The court, finding that "...there was no clerical error, brief delay or excusable inadvertence in plaintiff's failure to respond to requests to admit for in excess of two(2) years," granted the motion for summary judgment. Whack v. Seminole Memorial Hospital, Inc., 487 So.2d 1091, 1092 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

On appeal, a panel of the Fifth District Court of Appeals affirmed the order saying, "[w]e note that by a slow but certain attrition the plaintiffs continue to lose defendants to take to trial." Whack II, supra at 1092.

The respondent feels aggrieved that the courts did not specifically find neglect at the time the cases against four out of the five defendants were dropped. The simple answer to that is it was not necessary to find neglect to take the actions the courts took. However, the absence of a specific finding of neglect does not negate the existence of neglect.

The simple fact is that the evidence before the referee clearly and unmistakably establishes neglect and the referee properly found neglect on the part of this respondent.

A referee's findings of fact are presumed correct and will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous or without support in the evidence. The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 489 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar v. Lipman, 497 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar v. Hecker, 475 So.2d 1240, 1242 (Fla. 1985); The Florida Bar v. Hoffer, 383 So.2d 639, 642 (Fla. 1980); The Florida Bar v. Hirsch, 359 So.2d 856, 857 (Fla. 1978). Hoffer, supra, at 642, teaches that it is the responsibility of the referee as the finder of fact to resolve conflicts in the evidence before him. It is the responsibility of this court to review the referee report and the record and impose appropriate discipline.

Argument

Point II

THE DISCIPLINE RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE CONSISTING OF A NINETY DAY SUSPENSION, PROBATION AND PAYMENT OF COSTS IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE IN THIS CASE.

Respondent's actions, or lack of action, prejudiced his client severely as one by one the charges against all but a single defendant were dismissed. The respondent admitted at the referee hearing on December 18, 1987, that he forgot to file a response to the defendant's Request for Admission (TI p. 101). He was at a loss to explain why he failed to answer them when he answered a Request to Produce mailed at the same time (TI p. 97). He also admitted he now believes he should have answered the defendant's interrogatories after Judge Davis' May 25, 1982, verbal order. (TI p. 88) He further admitted at the February 5, 1988, hearing that he neglected his practice while he was attending school. (TII pp. 14-16). Respondent was criticized by the appellate court in Whack v. Seminole Memorial Hospital, Inc., 456 So.2d 561, 564 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) for his failure to comply Davis' order the defendant's with Judge to answer The court stated that "[t]he record clearly interrogatories. [showed] that appellant's counsel acted with willful disregard of the court's authority and gross indifference to an order of the [Emphasis added.] Contrary to the clerical error in respondent's Argument I, Judge Salfi found "there was no clerical error, brief delay or excusable inadvertence in Plaintiff's

failure to respond to Requests to Admit for in excess of two(2) years." Whack II, supra at 1092.

Respondent's repeated failure to comply with court orders and rules of procedure have resulted in loss of parties for his client to seek action against. This point was noted by the appellate court in Whack II, supra at 1092. Roberts, Phillips, both individually and as a partnership, and Richards have all been dismissed as defendants in the case. The sole remaining defendant is Seminole Memorial Hospital. Respondent was retained in 1981 by Mr. Whack and to date the case has still not progressed to trial. (TI p. 93) This is due in part to the fact the respondent was unable to discover an expert witness willing to testify. However, respondent's failure to comply with court orders and rules of procedure and his apparent inability to manage this type of case added immeasurably to the delay. (TI pp. 93-94) This was within the respondent's power to prevent.

Moreover, the record of this disciplinary case suggests that the respondent may be incorrigible regarding prompt compliance with orders and rules. The initial brief was several days late and without explanation or request for an extension of time.

Respondent argues his conduct warrants a public reprimand rather than a ninety day suspension. Public reprimands are

appropriate for isolated instances of neglect. The Florida Bar v. Welty, 382 So.2d 1220, 1223 (Fla. 1980). Respondent's conduct, however, was not merely an isolated instance of neglect, rather, he repeatedly failed to comply with discovery and to submit pleadings to the court in a timely manner.

Respondent cites The Florida Bar v. Hotaling, 454 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1984) to support his contention that his misconduct warrants a public reprimand. In that case the court found certain mitigating circumstances existed. There was no fraud or deceit involved, the complainants were not entirely credible, there was no prejudice to any of her clients, and she had no prior disciplinary history. Although no fraud or deceit was involved in the respondent's case, his client, Mr. Whack, has been prejudiced in that he may now only proceed against one defendant rather than five. If he should be successful in his action against Seminole Memorial and should the hospital be unable to pay for some reason, Mr. Whack would be unable to proceed against the doctors, their partnership or the anesthetist.

Respondent further contends he should receive a lesser discipline as there were no aggravating factors involved. The Bar submits this statement is not correct. The respondent does have a prior disciplinary history. He was publicly reprimanded

for mishandling trust funds in <u>The Florida Bar v. Golden</u>, 401 So.2d 1340 (Fla. 1981). The Bar concedes the respondent's second prior offense in <u>The Florida Bar v. Golden</u>, 502 So.2d 891 (Fla. 1987), should not be considered as cumulative misconduct as it occurred during the same period of time as the misconduct presently at issue. <u>The Florida Bar v. Carter</u>, 429 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1983).

The respondent cites <u>The Florida Bar v. Pritikin</u>, 259 So.2d 138 (Fla. 1972), for his assertion that the discipline in the case at bar should have been made to run concurrently with the discipline in <u>The Florida Bar v. Golden</u>, 502 So.2d 891 (Fla. 1987). However, the cases are not analagous. In <u>Pritikin</u>, supra, the facts under investigation arose out of the same general transaction that the earlier Pritkin case had arisen from. That is not the case here. Here, the facts are totally separate from those in <u>Golden</u>, supra. This case has no relationship whatsoever to <u>Golden</u>, supra.

In the past, misconduct similar to the respondent's has warranted suspensions. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Rosenberg</u>, 474 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1985), an attorney was suspended for ninety days for his neglect of a legal matter entrusted to him. His client's suit was dismissed twice for failure to prosecute. He failed to provide his client with copies of pleadings despite repeated

requests. The attorney was also convicted of five misdemeanor charges for housing code violations.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Mims</u>, 501 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1987), an attorney received a one year suspension for his failure to comply with court orders, failure to appear at a scheduled pretrial conference, and his admitted neglect of his client's case.

The attorney in <u>The Florida Bar v. Collier</u>, 385 So.2d 95 (Fla. 1980) was suspended for a period of sixty days for his failure to properly comply and respond to court orders in a probate case. He was also found to have been extremely dilatory in his administration of the estate.

The goals of discipline are protection of the public, administration of justice, protection of the legal profession, and the creation and protection of a favorable image of the legal profession. The Florida Bar v. Lord, 433 So.2d 983, 986 (Fla. 1983); The Florida Bar v. Larkin, 447 So.2d 1340 (Fla. 1984). See also Rule 1-2 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. The respondent does not appear to understand the position his actions have placed his client in. If he loses the last defendant, his client will be unable to pursue his claim for medical malpractice.

Confidence in, and proper utilization of, the legal system is adversely affected when a lawyer fails to diligently pursue a legal matter entrusted to that lawyer's care. A failure to do so is a direct violation of the oath a lawyer takes upon his admission to the Bar. The Florida Bar v. Schilling, 486 So.2d 551, 552 (Fla. 1986). A ninety day period of suspension and one year period of probation is the appropriate level of discipline in this matter.

Argument

Point III

THE TIME REQUIRED TO BRING THIS CASE TO REFEREE HEARING WAS NOT UNDULY PREJUDICIAL TO RESPONDENT

The Florida Bar was made aware of apparent problems in respondent's handling of Mr. Whack's case by letter dated March 24, 1986. (See Appendix Exhibit 1) An investigation was commenced and the matter was forwarded to the grievance committee on May 13, 1988. The probable cause hearing was held on October 28, 1986, and on May 5, 1987, the formal complaint was filed. The matter came before the referee on December 18, 1987. At that time the referee dismissed the respondent's motion to dismiss the complaint for failure to prosecute. A second hearing was held on February 5, 1988, to address the appropriate level of discipline.

The respondent contends he was prejudiced by a delay in the proceedings against him. However, he fails to show in what way he was prejudiced. Perhaps it is irony that he failed to file a response to Requests for Admission for almost three years, resulting in dismissal of the case against Mr. Richards but complains bitterly that The Florida Bar completed its case from start to finish in less than two years. This court has found in the past that a showing of discernable prejudice is necessary to justify finding a referee's report invalid. The Florida Bar v.

Lehrman, 485 So.2d 1276, 1278 (Fla. 1986). In The Florida Bar v. Randolph, 238 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1970) this court refused to dismiss a case or impose a discipline lesser than that recommended by the referee even though over two years passed between the original act of misconduct and the time the Board of Governors took final action. The Florida Bar has a reasonable time after it gains jurisdiction to proceed against an attorney. The Florida Bar v. McCain, 361 So.2d 700, 705 (Fla. 1978).

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, The Florida Bar respectfully submits that the referee's findings of fact, recommendation of guilt and the recommended discipline are correct, appropriate and should be approved.